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ADDENDUM #2 

Parks and Open Space 
Cardinal Mill Environmental Remediation Project 

RFP-083-24 
 
 

June 27, 2024 
 
The attached addendum supersedes the original Information and Specifications 
regarding RFP-083-24 where it adds to, deletes from, clarifies or otherwise modifies. All 
other conditions and any previous addendums shall remain unchanged. 
 
ATTENTION: A mandatory meeting has been added to this RFP and the 
submittal due date has been extended. 
 
A mandatory pre-proposal site visit will take place on July 10, 2024, at 11:00 a.m. to be 
completed before 2:00 p.m. Parties interested in attending are required to register 
through Bonfire via the vendor discussions. The last day to register is July 8, 2024, by 
midnight. Please indicate the number of seats to reserve as shuttle vans will be 
required. There is not enough parking for everyone at Cardinal Mill. After the site visit, 
the County will issue another Addendum. 
 
Bids from firms not represented and signed in at the mandatory, pre-bid meeting, and 
site visit will not be accepted. 
 
The submittal date has been changed to July 17, 2024, by 2:00 p.m. 
 
Proposals must be submitted electronically on or before the Close Date at 
https://bouldercounty.bonfirehub.com/. 
 
NO ZIP FILES OR LINKS TO EXTERNAL SITES WILL BE ACCEPTED. THIS INCLUDES 
GOOGLE DOCS AND SIMILAR SITES. ALL SUBMITTALS MUST BE RECEIVED AS AN 
ATTACHMENT (E.G. PDF, WORD, EXCEL).  

 
Electronic submittals must be received at the website above.  Submittals sent to any 
other box will NOT be forwarded or accepted.  It is the sole responsibility of the 

https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/LVnRCXDXkAf4A3Dlu68Mt0?domain=bouldercounty.bonfirehub.com/
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proposer to ensure their documents are received before the deadline specified above. 
Boulder County does not accept responsibility under any circumstance for delayed or 
failed submittals. No exceptions will be made. 

 
The Board of County Commissioners reserve the right to reject any and all bids, to waive 
any informalities or irregularities therein, and to accept the bid that, in the opinion of 
the Board, is in the best interest of the Board and of the County of Boulder, State of 
Colorado. 
 
Attachments to Addendum: 
Geotechnical Investigation Report 
Toe Drain Installation Report 
Phase II Environmental Report 
Electrical Plan 
1872 Conger & Sanders Claim, Boulder County Lode 
 
 
 
 

1. Question: Please provide an expectation regarding Task 3 deliverables by the end 
of December 2025.  Is the intent for the contract to design the optimized 
solution and support BCPOS with construction planning, permitting, and 
oversight?   Based on this response, is there the option to present an alternative 
schedule/period of performance? 

 
ANSWER: Please present an alternative schedule / period of performance and 
we will consider it. Additional meetings with Boulder County Community 
Planning & Permitting (BCCP&P) have taken place since this RFP was 
advertised. We have a pathway to permitting the temporary water quality 
treatment facility located in the current lower parking lot which is “Work Done 
By Others” in relation to this RFP and intended for installation in the fall of 
2024. To be clearer, please add to Task 3 the 30% design of a permanent water 
quality treatment facility as early as possible in 2025 (recognizing many 
unknowns at this time which makes this impossible to estimate). It is possible 
that the temporary water quality treatment facility design (which is unknown 
at this time) performs very well, but needs a different location or a slight 
adjustment in  performance or aesthetics. This 30% design will be needed to 
start the long permitting process with BCCP&P for a permanent treatment 
facility. We do not know how many months it will take to get the proper 
permits so we will be open to longer time periods for Task 3 to see the project 
through the permitting process and beyond to construction and construction 
oversight. Please treat this project as a time & materials project, as there are 
so many unknowns we cannot anticipate what will happen in this next year 
that may influence the schedule, scope of work, and costs. We will likely need 
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contract amendments in the future to go beyond the 30% design to implement 
the suggestions in the RPO, and we hope to select a proposal that indicates 
flexibility and availability of your team to see the project through to a 
successful implemented optimization. Please propose the best plan for Task 3 
that you can with limited information, with emphasis on a capable and flexible 
team. The schedule and costing tables can indicate which sub-tasks are in the 
budget through the end of 2025, and which will extend outside of 2025 and 
thus are not included in the budget breakdown. Your cost description can 
include a list of assumptions that goes into your cost breakdown. At this time, 
weather and the type of investigations needed for Task 2 may slow down the 
30% plan delivery date, and then it may take 9 months or more to get County 
permits after submittal of the 30% plans in this Task. We recognize that Tasks 1 
and 3 are very dependent on other parties, while Task 2 is largely under the 
control of the Contractor for this RFP. 
 

2. Question: What level of detail does BCPOS want for the costing task breakdown? 
 

ANSWER: We will be looking for enough detail that will display your selected 
team’s capabilities and your layout of sub-contracted services that you propose 
to be considered for this project. The hours/rate (costs) and fees and expenses 
proposed for each task should be supported by a team that is available and has 
an attached rate table with proposed tasks broken down into estimated hours, 
or an estimated sub-contracted cost.  
 

3. Question: Can you identify sampling locations for available water quality data? 
 

ANSWER: We have recently performed a pollutant load analysis, approximate 
sampling locations shown below in the Google Earth images, with the data to 
be received later this week.  We will provide this data at the pre-bid meeting 
on July 10th. Most of our sampling data over the years is located at the toe 
drainpipe outlet labeled “CB SW 6” in this Google Earth picture. We have 
limited water quality data from other dates and times at “CB SW 1” the mine 
adit. “CB SW 8, CB SW 9 and CB SW 12 are all points in Coon Track Creek, for 
which there is also additional data available through other municipal and state 
sources that we are currently trying to collect. We have an additional date for 
which data was collected at the hill slope seeps “CB SW 2”, “CB SW 3”, and a 
third seep to the south, and this can be provided to the selected Contractor. 
“CB SW 4.5” is a surface water location for seep water not collected into the 
toe drain pipe. “CB SW 5” is an additional seep location. 
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4. Question: Will any additional site-specific geotechnical data be available for the 
contractor to review in support of Task 2? This could include the results of the 
geotechnical investigation that Yenter used to design the MSE wall (perhaps 
done by Loris & Associates?). 

 
ANSWER:  All available reports and information will be made available to the 
selected contractor after the competitive bid process is complete. A few 
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selected reports (due to the number and size of the reports) have been 
attached to this Addendum including the geotechnical report mentioned. 
 

5. Question: During the Brownfields study, was any site characterization carried out 
to determine the extents and contents of mine waste or mill tailings piles? 

 
ANSWER:  Site characterization for the Brownfields study was limited in our 
determination and needs to be extended to fully characterize the extents and 
contents of the mine waste or mill tailings piles. All available reports and 
information will be made available to the selected contractor. 
 

6. Question: Does Boulder County have any mine maps or records of the Boulder 
Tunnel? 

 
ANSWER:  We have attached one document that might be relevant, but we 
expect the selected Contractor to search all available State records for relevant 
maps or documents. 
 

7. Question: Can BCPOS set up a pre-proposal site visit?   
 

ANSWER: Yes, a mandatory pre-proposal site visit will take place on July 10, 
2024, at 11:00 a.m. to be completed before 2:00 p.m. Parties interested in 
attending are required to register through Bonfire via the vendor discussions. 
The last day to register is July 8, 2024, by midnight. Please indicate the number 
of seats to reserve as shuttle vans will be required. There is not enough parking 
for everyone at Cardinal Mill. After the site visit, the County will issue another 
Addendum. 
 
Bids from firms not represented and signed in at the mandatory, pre-bid 
meeting, and site visit will not be accepted. 
 

8. Question: If possible, could we request a submittal extension from the 7/9 due 
date to 7/10? 

 
ANSWER: Yes, we will extend the submittal date to 7/17/24, submittals due by 
2:00 p.m. 
 

9. Question: What is the status of the water treatment system installation? 
 

ANSWER: No temporary water quality treatment system has been designed to-
date, nor installed. 
 

10. Question: What type of treatment is being used/proposed? 
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ANSWER: For the temporary water quality treatment system, we are 
considering filtration, pH adjustment, and adsorbent resin. We have visited the 
water quality treatment facility at the Caribou Mine and Cross Mine upstream 
of Cardinal Mill as a point of reference for what might be installed at Cardinal 
Mill. However, they have water storage and dilution capabilities that we do not 
have and will likely not be able to create at Cardinal Mill. 
 

11. Question: Does the 25-page limit of the proposal include resumes?  Are the 
following forms: sustainability questionnaire, Bonfire Vendor information, and 
Environmental Cardinal Mill RFP proposal section excluded from the 25-page 
count? 

 
ANSWER: Resumes, sustainability questionnaire, Bonfire Vendor information, 
and Environmental Cardinal Mill proposal section are not included in the 25-
page limit. 
 

12. Question: Are there space constraints for the treatment system? 
 

ANSWER: Yes, topography and environmental and human impact are some of 
the considerations with respect to the permanent treatment system. With 
current County parcel ownership, we do not have the luxury of large flat areas 
for construction. We may need to consider tanks and structures on vertical 
supports. 
 

13. Question: Can we get site dimensions that indicate how much area is available 
for the remedial system? 

 
ANSWER: This is not available. The temporary facility, Work by Others, will be 
built in the lower parking lot located southeast of the mill. We do not know 
how much of that parking lot footprint will be taken by the temporary 
treatment facility nor if we will need to extend the parking lot footprint to the 
east. We need to stay on County property, but we need to be advised by the 
Selected Contractor as to what is required for the permanent treatment facility 
and what might be possible with creativity and technology. 
 

14. Question: For Task 1 “Implementation Assistance 2024” please clarify, what are 
the expectations for the time to be spent on-site by the successful contractor’s 
representative to provide assistance for construction implementation (full time, 
2-days per week, etc.)? 

 
ANSWER: Attendance at weekly online (1 hour) meetings starting August 1, 
review of emails and materials not to exceed 4 hours per week, and on-site 
visits (2 hours on-site each time) every 2 weeks if not combined with other site 
visits for Task 2. Basically, as we move through this permit compliance process, 
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another group of knowledgeable individuals is welcome in the project 
consultation to optimize project success.   
 

15. Question: For Task 2 “Wholistic Site Investigation and Remediation Strategy 
Development” can a list of previously developed reports and site investigation 
information be provided to bidders? 

 
ANSWER: All available reports and information will be made available to the 
selected contractor after the competitive bid process is complete. 
Here is a screenshot of the list: 

 
 

16. Question: For Task 2, please clarify for the nine example tasks which may be 
involved, shall scoping and budgeting for these tasks be conducted at a later 
date following review of available information and determination of which tasks 
are required to develop a remediation strategy? Page 10 of SOW includes 
discussion of conducting site survey and geotechnical and Hydrology & Hydraulic  
assessment. 

 
ANSWER: Yes, the tasks and their scope and budget will need to be developed 
in detail at a later date following review of available information and 
determination of which tasks will be required.  We are looking for a best 
estimated budget at this time for the Contract, one that is reasonable to cover 
a general estimated scope of work and that will aim to minimize future 
Contract Amendments for budget (although time, budget and scope of work 
contract amendments will be presented to the Board of County Commissioners 
as needed). A general scope of work with emphasis on the skills of the team 



8 
 

that will be assigned to work on this project will be sufficient, along with a rate 
table and estimated workload availability of those individuals to assist with 
this project. 
 

17. Question: For Task 2, please clarify, who is the “mining team” intended to 
include? 

 
ANSWER:  “Mining team” listed in Task 2 is intended to include the selected 
contractor with their internal team. 
 

18. Question: Please confirm a separate construction contractor be responsible for 
construction of the water treatment plant Sept 15-Oct 15, and discussion of 
permits, licenses, locates, and codes (SOW pdf page 10) is relevant only to the 
performance of Task 2 studies. 

 
ANSWER: Yes, the temporary treatment plant will be constructed under a 
separate contract in 2024, likely Sept. 15-Oct. 15. The permits, licenses, locates 
and codes is relevant to both Task 2 and Task 3. Task 3 will be the additional 
design needed to construct a permanent facility in likely a new location. 
 

19. Question: For Task 3, Remediation Process Optimization (RPO) it is stated that 
“this task might include retrofits and modifications to existing systems, or 
installation of a permanent system downstream in an environmentally sound 
location that minimizes impacts to neighbors.”  PDF page 10 of SOW includes 
discussion that Contractor shall provide final opinion of probable cost for 
recommendations to be included as part of task 3-RPO, and associated bid item 
estimate if Construction Bids are needed to implement the RPO.  Please clarify, is 
it BCPOS's intent that this task include an allowance for identifying necessary 
retrofits, with subsequent designs, equipment purchase and installation to be 
costed separately? 

 
ANSWER: YES, that was the original intent. But more detail has been provided 
in the Answer to Question 1 regarding the inclusion of a set of Permit-Ready 
30% plans for those identified retrofits. No final design nor equipment 
purchase nor installation will be included in this project unless a Contract 
Amendment specifically allows that to occur. 
 

20. Question: For Task 3, it is stated that “This task could include modifications to 
sampling programs, reduced sampling frequencies, technology transitions, and 
other strategies to optimize performance.” Please clarify, is this task intended to 
include recommendations for modifications or also include development of an 
alternate sampling programs?   
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ANSWER: This task is intended to include recommendations for modifications, 
NOT the development of an alternate sampling program. 
 

21. Question: Is this a lump sum cost project, or will the project be tracked as time 
and materials? 

 
ANSWER: Time and materials. 
 

22. Question: Has any background information been collected for sub-surface 
hydrology characterization for the site?  If so, would Boulder County be willing to 
share that information with bidders? 

 
ANSWER: We have only measured flows at the surface, no sub-surface 
hydrological data has been collected. 
 

23. Question: Has any background data been collected related to the pressure 
associated with water in the mine tunnels? 

 
ANSWER: No. 
 

24. Question: Are there mine maps of the underground workings surrounding the 
site available, and would Boulder County be willing to share that information 
with bidders? 

 
ANSWER: No maps of underground workings are available from Boulder 
County, only parcel ownership maps here: 
https://maps.boco.solutions/propertysearch/  Enter 158310000034 into the 
search engine to find the parcel associated with the Boulder County tunnel. 
Parcel shapes are accurate, but parcel locations are not and must be surveyed 
on the ground. 
 

25. Question: What is the added benefit of doing the sub-surface hydrology 
investigation if the discharge point source locations, effluent flow rates, and 
water chemistry are already known?  Sub-surface hydrology investigations are 
notoriously complex and can be expensive. 

 
ANSWER: We may not have to do a sub-surface hydrology investigation. Based 
on recent flow monitoring of the adit and the seeps and the toe drainpipe 
outfall (the pollutant load investigation we performed and results from which 
we will provide by July 10 (the pre-bid site visit,)) it appears that largely the 
flow from the adit is what we are measuring at the toe drain pipe outfall. We 
have not yet performed a test to see if we capture all of the adit flow and pipe 
it to the manhole (which connects the perforated toe drainpipe to the non-
perforated toe drain pipe) do we then drain up all the hillslope seeps? We are 
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more confident in this prediction of dry-up than we were a few weeks ago. If 
this is the case, we would have more options for the permanent treatment 
plant location and we might be able to remove some of the contamination if it 
is increased by the water’s flow path through the hill slope. 
 

26. Question: Would Boulder County be willing to provide baseline assumptions for 
the number of water-quality monitoring wells, piezometers, and inclinometers 
expected for the project in order to provide consistent cost estimates from the 
bidders? 

 
ANSWER: We have no information to assist in this question.  This is a time and 
materials type contract, so the best quality proposal benefiting Boulder County 
will be selected, not the low bid. 
 

27. Question: Does Boulder County have an estimate of waste area and volume at 
the site?  This will be helpful for developing consistent waste characterization 
costs across bidders. 

 
ANSWER: No, but we have added a mandatory pre-bid meeting on-site for 
those Contractors who wish to attend. 
 

28. Question: What type and quantity of debris flow does Boulder County expect 
from the Boulder County Tunnel? 

 
ANSWER: Unknown, this is a hypothetical worst case scenario should a debris 
fall cause water to dam in the Tunnel and then later the dam could fail and 
cause a debris flow.   
 

29. Question: Would Boulder County be willing to share information on the current 
mine water treatment system (e.g., general design, treatment media/chemicals, 
design flow rate of mine water through treatment system)? 

 
ANSWER: Currently, there is no design and no mine water treatment system. 
This information will be shared with the selected Contractor as soon as it is 
available. 
 

30. Question: Is there an approximate area/footprint dimensions available for a 
water treatment system?  If so, who is/are the landowner(s) of this footprint? 

 
ANSWER: The only available footprints are parcels owned by Boulder County. 
https://maps.boco.solutions/propertysearch/  Search “167 Bergren Road, 
Unincorporated” and you will see adjacent parcels owned by Boulder County.   
We are currently pursuing an administrative process to merge County parcels. 
A permanent location for the water treatment system will need to follow the 

https://maps.boco.solutions/propertysearch/
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25-ft offset rule from parcel boundaries, and minimize environmental impact 
caused by grading to make the site suitable for operation and maintenance.  
 

31. Question: Can you provide more details on the available electric power and 
cellular coverage? 

 
ANSWER: There is Xcel Energy service to the site. There is a ground mounted 
transformer at the base of an Xcel power pole approximately 200 feet from the 
mill along the access road at the top of the mill. It is adjacent to and just east of 
the adit tunnel entrance. The mill has a 240/120V 100A single phase service 
meter and panel feed from the transformer. Electrical Plans for the site are 
attached to this addendum. Any electrical service upgrade will need to be 
coordinated with the County Electrician and Xcel Energy and can be facilitated 
by BCPOS staff. Cell coverage connectivity depends on the individual cellular 
provider service, however BCPOS staff has had cellular connection with Verizon 
and AT&T at certain times, but not always. Internet service connectivity is 
available at the site by satellite or line of sight through the local provider 
Nedernet (www.nedernet.net). 
 

32. Question: Is there a consistent supply of clean running water (either surface 
water or city water, for example)?  If so, what is the approximate flow (in 
whatever units are available)? 

 
ANSWER: No.  There is no municipal water supply at the site.  A new well or 
new surface water diversions from Coon Track Creek are subject to Division 1 
administration and are not a reliable source. 
 

33. Question: Can heavy equipment easily access and maneuver on the site?  Is the 
site accessible all year or just seasonally? 

 
ANSWER: The site is tight and in steep terrain and has limits to the size of 
equipment that can easily access it. The site is accessed via Bergren Road from 
Caribou Road, which is a Boulder County maintained road. Bergren Road is a 
private road and the upper access road to the site. Bergren Road is gravel and 
for the most part is a single lane road. Bergen Road is plowed and maintained 
by the private landowner to the best of their ability each winter. The access 
road, down to the gravel parking lot at the bottom of the mill building and the 
toe-drain discharge pipe, is a narrow single lane gravel road approximately 12’ 
wide. Currently, it is not maintained beyond the first weather event in winter. 
The County understands year-round access is needed and we are looking into 
alternatives to keep this road accessible over the winter. Options include 
County staff maintaining this road or the County contracting with a local 
vendor to respond and plow the road/site each storm event.  
 

http://www.nedernet.net/
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34. Question: Are the mine water flows known (approximately) if all possible surface 
water is diverted from the mine water requiring treatment? 

 
ANSWER: No, this is one of the questions we expect the Selected Contractor to 
assist with in Task 2.  One task that the County plans to conduct in July is a 
walk through of the Boulder County Tunnel to identify locations where water 
(rain water, snow melt, stream crossings) is directed into the Tunnel rather 
than away from the Tunnel. We expect the Selected Contractor to help the 
County consult on options to minimize this inflow, and advise on whether it 
would be cost-effective (for the permanent treatment solution) to reduce the 
surface inflow.    
 

35. Question: Is the County amenable to a temporary surface and subsurface 
monitoring program to inform site characterization and treatment design? 

 
ANSWER: Yes. 

 
36. Question: Is the project tax exempt? 

 
ANSWER: Yes. 
 

37. Question: Define "limited electric service. 
 

ANSWER: See answer 31 above. 
 

38. Question: Will Contractor have access to a storage/laydown area, if required 
(e.g., for drilling operations, etc.)? 

 
ANSWER:  The only flat area owned by Boulder County is the small parking lot 
located south east of the mill and currently occupied (in part) by a portable 
toilet shade/housing structure. https://maps.boco.solutions/propertysearch/  
Search “167 Bergren Road, Unincorporated” and you will see adjacent parcels 
owned by Boulder County.   This site is currently accessed by a private road and 
there are private citizens living in adjacent structures. Negotiations with the 
private landowner may be possible, likely for a fee. The large flat area west of 
the mill is privately owned and includes a raised septic drain field.   
 

39. Question: Task 2, Item 6 (p8) - "The County may be severely hampered in these 
efforts if the adjacent landowner is unwilling to participate in these efforts." 
Should Contractor assume adjacent landowner is willing to participate in these 
efforts? Confirm coordination with adjacent landowner(s) is responsibility of the 
County and excluded from Proposer's scope of services. 

 

https://maps.boco.solutions/propertysearch/
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ANSWER: Coordination with the adjacent landowner is the responsibility of the 
County. Conversations are open between the County and the adjacent 
landowner regarding the potential purchase of additional land by the County, 
should it be deemed necessary for the success of this project. 
 

40. Question: Does the County have knowledge of any private or otherwise 
potentially unlocatable utilities at the site?   

 
ANSWER: No. 
 

41. Question: Subcontractors (p11) - confirm submission of subcontractor names is 
not required with the proposal (but shall be done prior to mobilization of any 
selected contractors). 
 
ANSWER: Yes, submission of subcontractor names is not required with the 
proposal, but shall be done prior to mobilization of any selected contractors. 
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New Cardinal Mill Retaining Wall Reconstruction 

Near Nederland, Boulder, County Colorado 

By Angus Campbell, CDPHE Project Manager 
March 17, 2006

Summary of Action

The New Cardinal Mill Retaining Wall Reconstruction Project is located in the historic 

town site of New Cardinal. New Cardinal is approximately two miles west of the town of 

Nederland, Colorado, on Caribou Road, adjacent to a historic mill site. The mill building 

was sold to Boulder County in October 2002. Adjacent to the mill building, and part of 

the deeded land, a historic Cornish wall of stacked stone had collapsed in the recent 

past. This wall originally provided stability to a mine waste pile associated with 

operation of the mine and historic mill. The collapsed wall allowed for a release of mine 

waste to approach the adjacent stream named Coon Creek. The wall also provided 

stability to the historic mill buildings foundations and access road to the historic town 

site. An active ground water seep also ran through the mine waste material and into 

the base of the historic mill building, where it pooled up in several 3-4 foot deep pools 

before the water flowed to Coon Creek.

The property and the associated mill building are owned by Boulder County. Currently 

the mill building is being re-furbished, utilizing grants from the State of Colorado 

Historical Fund and other funds provided by Boulder County and Science and Cultural 

Facilities District (SCFD). The property was purchased by Boulder County from Ms. 

Alexandra Armatage in 2002. Ms. Armatage submitted a voluntary cleanup plan for the 

adjacent property to address elevated metal contamination in soil (lead and arsenic) 

associated with the historic mining and milling operation. The application was approved 

in 2002, however, the plan has not been implemented to date. The applicant has 

requested an extension until August 2006, in order to complete the work.

CDPHE was approached to perform the reconstruction work on the Cornish wall waste 

containment structure and the ground water conveyance by Boulder County, and the
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site was scored, and it ranked high enough to give the project priority in utilization of 

House Bill 1306 funds (State Brownfields law). CDPHE contracted with Loris and 

Associates from the State Buildings As-Needed list of Architects! Engineers to design 

the waste containment structure and the construction of a ground water diversion 

conveyance. The initial design called for a soil nail wall that was faced by a 

mechanically stabilized earth (MSE) wall, along with a ground water collection system, 

which collects the seeping water into a French drain and diverted the flow to a 

discharge point nearer to the creek. This combination of earth stabilization techniques 

(the soil nail and MSE walls) allowed for the resulting wall to have a large vertical face 

that would retain the historical look of the structure. This design was bid in July 2004; 

the quotes received were too high for the construction budget, which had been 

established by the Design Engineer. Loris and Associates was tasked to redesign the 

wall to keep within budget. The resulting design eliminated the soil nail wall portion of 

the design, while retaining the MSE portion of the design. This design resulted in a 

terraced wall with three levels and a larger foot that extended approximately 20 feet 

further from the foot of the original wall. The redesigned plan was coordinated with 

Historic Boulder and the State Historical Fund. After several rounds of fine-tuning the 

design drawings, Boulder County, State Historical Fund and Historic Boulder accepted 

the new plan, and CDPHE approved the design. A second construction bid was let in 

April 2005, and the successful bidder was Venter Companies. Construction 

commenced in August 2005 and was completed in October of 2005. A punch list was 

developed, and the items were addressed in November 2005. A Notice of Substantial 

Completion, prepared by Venter and accepted by Loris and Associates, and was 

submitted to CDPHE on November 1, 2005. The Notice of Acceptance was given by 

CDPHE and State Buildings in December 2005. Final payment and contract closeout 

was conducted in March 2006. 

Contract costs were as follows. 

CDPHE Design: 

Loris and Associates: Original Contract: $43,027.00. Dated: June 16, 2003. 

Supplement #1: $1,190. Dated: December 23, 2004. 

Design Contract Total: $44,217.00

2



l. tBZ/ZZ/tt uo sr: PS: GtU p9Um~.oS

CDPHE Construction Contract: 

Venter Companies: 

Total CDPHE cost:

Original Contract: $156,210.00. Dated: July 27,2005. 

$200,427.00

Notice of Substantial Completion: Dated: November 30,2005. 

Notice of Acceptance: Dated: December 7,2005. 

Release of Retainage: Dated: February 9,2006.

Upon completion of this project by CDPHE, the State Historical Fund and Boulder 

County work could begin on the restoration of the historic New Cardinal Mill Building 

itself. Boulder County received Grants from the State Historical and SCFD for a two- 

phased project. 

Phase I 

State Historical Fund: $120,000 
SCFD (Scientific and Cultural Facilities District) Tier III: $1000 
Board of County Commissioners: $40,000

Phase II 

State Historical Fund: $213,797 
Boulder County Parks & Open Space: $90,141 (cash & in-kind)

With the 1306 funds of $200,427, an additional $424,978 of funding was leveraged to 

complete the project, for a total of $625,405 spent on the restoration of a significant 

historic mine mill.

The project successfully contained the mine waste rock material. This will keep the 

waste material from releasing hazardous substances or other pollutants and 

contaminants associated with mine operations to Coon Creek. In addition, the ground 

water was successfully collected and diverted from the mill building. This allowed for 

the segregation of the clean ground water from contacting and possible contamination 

by waste material associated mining and milling processes.
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Pictures:

Source: Denver Public Library

New Cardinal Mill pre Cornish Wall
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New Cardinal Mill photo showing Cornish type stonewall Source: Denver Public Library

New Cardinal Mill building pre construction 2005 Source: Ron Abel, CDPHE (composite photo)
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The site was initially cleaned and grubbed, beginning in August 2005 Source: Carol Beam Boulder County
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Source: Carol Beam, Boulder County

After cleaning and grubbing, drainage system was installed collection channels going up the back of the fill area 

and perforated pipe which collected the drainage in a manifold system which discharged the collected water at the 

base of the wall.
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Source: Carol Beam: Boulder County

Construction of the MSE walL Gravel is hauled to the construction site by a small tracked vehicle the material is 

placed in the wall fill by an excavator.
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Source: Carol Beam, Boulder County 

Once placed, the gravel was tamped with a hand held compactor (orange machine in foreground) then a geo-fabric 

was placed on the gravel fill material by workmen.
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Source: Dennis Copeland Loris and Associates

After the fabric is placed, a new course of stone is lain by workers for the face of the wall.
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Source: Dennis Copeland, Loris and Associates 

The MSE wall was constructed in 6-inch lifts throughout the entire wall. This photo of one of the Terraces shows 

the completed lifts with fabric material enclosing the 6-inch gravel lift. This sloped back area is being covered 

with a [mal fabric layer that will have a final cover of rock for the face.
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Source: Carol Beam, Boulder County

On the terraces, workers place a fmal rock face. Groundwater seeping out of toe of mine waste pile
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Source: Ron Abel, CDPHE 

Groundwater seeped into the mill building and pool up in 2-4 foot deep pools in places.
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Source: Carol Beam, Boulder County 

Groundwater collecting in cleaned trench prior to construction of interceptor drain
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Source: Carol Beam, Boulder County

Groundwater inceptor trench with collection pipe being backfilled with gravel, not manhole clean out, next to

excavator.
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Source Carol Beam: Boulder County 

Completed groundwater inceptor drain note light colored gravel next to building.
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Source: Dennis Copeland, Loris and Associates

Discharge point from groundwater collection trench.
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Source: Dennis Copeland, Loris and Associates

Completed MSE wall.
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Source: Carol Beam. Boulder County

Completed wall
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View of the completed Project for across the valley.
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LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

MILL SITE LOT 

A TRACT OF LAND BEING PORTIONS OF THE BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY 

NO. 14445B, AND THE CARDINAL MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY NO. 16783B, LOCA TED IN 

THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 73 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., 
BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE NO. J" CORNER OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE; THENCE 

S13’41’32"E, 115.56 FEET; THENCE SOOV6’15"W, 40.14 FEET; THENCE 
N82’21’05"W, 111.55 FEET; THENCE N076’47"E, 93.44 FEET; THENCE 
N83’JO’17"W, 166.83 FEET; THENCE N04’29’26"W, 73.66 FEET TO CORNER NO.2 OF 
THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE,’ THENCE S78’57’16"E, 247.55 FEET TO THE 
CORNER NO.3 OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

AREA = 0.63 ACRES.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

LOT 2 

A TRACT OF LAND BEING A PORTION OF THE BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY 
NO. 14445B, LOCA TED IN THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 
73 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING A T THE NO. 3 CORNER OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE; THENCE 

N78’57’16"W, 247.55 FEET TO CORNER NO. 2 OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE; 
THENCE S81’22’44"W, 132.41 FEET ALONG THE 2-1 LINE OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY 
MILL SITE,’ THENCE SOO’38’17"W, 50.20 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
N84’42’38"E, 37.62 FEET; THENCE S03’26’25"E, 83.72 FEET; THENCE 
S83 8’21"W, 59.18 FEET; THENCE N03’26’25"W, 85.17 FEET; THENCE 
N84’42’38"E, 21.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. AREA = 12306 S.F..

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

OUTLOT A 

A TRACT OF LAND BEING A PORTION OF THE CARDINAL MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY NO. 

16783B, LOCA TED IN THE NORTH 1/2 OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 73 WEST 
OF THE 6TH P.M., BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING A T THE NO. 3 CORNER OF THE CARDINAL MILL SITE MINERAL SURVEY NO. 

16783B, THENCE S13’41’32"E, 59.15 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
N75VO’OO"E, 560.86 FEET; THENCE N873’OO"E, 301.14 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 
4-1 LINE OF THE 0 & M MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY NO. 540B; THENCE ALONG THE SAID 
4-1 LINE S00’23’OO"E, 141.42 TO CORNER NO.4 OF SAID 0 & M MILL SITE; THENCE 
N87’57’OO"E, 17.21 FEET ALONG THE 3-4 LINE OF SAID 0 & M MILL SITE TO A POINT 
ON THE 4-5 LINE OF SAID CARDINAL MILL SITE; THENCE S77’47’30"W, 726.02 FEET 
ALONG SAID 4-5 LINE,’ THENCE N47’46’08"W, 108.00 FEET; THENCE N82’21’05"W, 
58.29 FEET; THENCE N13’41’32"W, 56.41 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. AREA 

= 3.18 ACRES.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

OUTLOT C 

A TRACT OF LAND BEING PORTIONS OF THE BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY 
NO. 14445B AND OF THE CARDINAL MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY NO. 16783B, LOCA TED IN 
THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 73 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M., 
BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING A T THE NO. 3 CORNER OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE, THENCE 
S13’41’32"E, 115.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING,’ THENCE S82’21’05"E, 58.29 
FEET; THENCE S47’46’08"E, 108.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 4-5 LINE OF THE 
CARDINAL MILL SITE, MINERAL SURVEY NO. 16783B; THENCE S77’47’30"W, 173.51 FEET 
TO CORNER NO.4 OF THE SAID CARDINAL MILL SITE,’ THENCE N82’50’29"W, 384.92 FEET 
ALONG 

_ 

THE 4-5 LINE OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE; THENCE N03’26’25"W, 
71.86 FEET,’ THENCE N83 8’21"E, 59.18 FEET,’ THENCE N03’26’25"W, 83.72 FEET; 
THENCE S84’42’38"W, 37.62 FEET; THENCE NOO’J8’17"E, 50.20 FEET TO A POINT 
ON THE 1-2 LINE OF THE SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL SITE; THENCE N81’22’44"E, 
132.41 FEET TO CORNER NO.2 OF SAID BOULDER COUNTY MILL S/ ; THENCE 

S04’29’26"E, 73.66 FEET; THENCE S83’J0’17"E, 166.83 FEET,’ THENCE 
S076’47"W, 93.44 FEET; THENCE S82’21’05"E, 111.55 FEET,’ THENCE 
NOOV6’15"E, 40.14 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. AREA = 1.66 ACRES.
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